provided by Research Pape

Research Report 9909/E

# **Turbulence and productivity in the Netherlands**

Niels Bosma Henry Nieuwenhuijsen



Zoetermeer, March 2000

ISBN: 90-371-0769-9 Price: NLG 20.-Order number: H9909

EIM / Small Business Research and Consultancy employs 170 professionals. EIM provides policy- and practice-oriented socio-economic information on and for all sectors in private enterprise and for policy-makers. EIM is established in Zoetermeer. Besides on the Netherlands, EIM also focuses on the European economy and on other continents. You may contact us for more information about EIM and its services.

Address: Mailing address:	Italiëlaan 33 P.O. Box 7001 2701 AA Zoetermeer
Telephone:	+ 31 79 341 36 34
Fax:	+ 31 79 341 50 24
Website:	www.eim.nl

This study is funded by the Ministry of Economic Affairs.

The responsibility for the contents of this report lies with EIM. Quoting of numbers and/or texts as an explanation or support in papers, essays and books is permitted only when the source is clearly mentioned.

No part of this publication may be copied and/or published in any form or by any means, or stored in a retrieval system, without the prior written permission of EIM.

EIM does not accept responsibility for printing errors and/or other imperfections.

# Contents

1	Introduction
2	Summary of previous research
3	Analyzing the impact of turbulence on productivity
3.1	Method and data
3.2	Results at macro level
3.3	Results for services
3.4	Results for manufacturing10
4	<b>Evaluation</b>
4.1	Summary of the findings
4.2	Explanation of the findings
4.3	Interpretation of the results
	Literature

# 1 Introduction

Entry and exit of firms is an item of major importance in economic policy. For the Netherlands, this is emphasised by the Amendment to the Establishment Act, which came into force in 1996. One of the main reasons for passing the amendment was to make it easier to start a firm. That is why, for example, the educational qualifications required to start an enterprise were lowered or even no longer applicable. Another example of the importance attached to firm dynamics is the fact that the Dutch Bankruptcy Act, dating from 1893, is also under discussion. The aim of changes to the Act would be to prevent unnecessary bankruptcies without adverse effects for the creditors. Such changes in legislation are expected to remove barriers to starting a firm and to facilitate re-starts.

Taking into account the attention paid by policy makers to the entry and exit of firms, there is a definite need for an adequate assessment of the influence of firm dynamics on economic performances.

The purpose of this report is to investigate whether entry and exit of firms affects productivity. A model for total factor productivity is developed and estimated using a panel of regional data for the years 1988 up to and including 1996.

The structure of this report is as follows. Section 2 deals with previous research into the effect of turbulence. Our approach and findings are explained in section 3. Besides results at macro level, results for services and manufacturing are presented. We end with an evaluation.

### 2 Summary of previous research

The theory attached to turbulence (entry and exit of firms) goes back to Schumpeter. His theory is that growth, innovation and business dynamics are inherently connected. According to him the economy develops through a process of competition and selection. Firms gain an advantage through innovation. In this way they achieve excess profits, which encourages imitation and entry. As a result, profits drop and the firms are stimulated to innovate again. As not all firms have the abilities to innovate, selection occurs. From this point of view the entry of new firms is essential because entrants bring with them new ideas, methods and products. The exit of some firms is equally important because the majority of these firms show bad performances and do no longer contribute to the growth of the economy. Furthermore, exit of firms creates room for new entries. In sum, Schumpeter states that a high level of turbulence of firms contributes to economic growth because of its contribution to selection and innovation.

Another theory stresses the importance of the life cycles of products (Klepper, 1992). In new product markets turbulence is high because of many entries. In old product markets turbulence is also high because of many exits. According to this theory there would be no connection between turbulence and growth. Turbulence (sum of entries and exits) is high in both growing and declining industries. However, if entry and exit is related to the number of existing firms, one would find correlations between turbulence and growth. In declining markets more firms are active. So the rate of turbulence in old declining markets is low while in new markets turbulence rates must be high as less firms are active in the new growing markets.

The theory of the life cycle of products implicates that economic growth is a source of turbulence, while Schumpeter's theory implicates that turbulence is a source of economic growth. Combination and measuring of both ideas is possible by taking into account interindustry turbulence. There is no contradiction between both theories if Schumpeter's creative destruction goes through the borders of industries. The fact that the theoretical concepts of turbulence and growth are not completely in balance and discussion is not finished yet explains probably the ambiguous results found in empirical studies. We give some examples. On the one hand van der Wiel (1999) finds that, in some Dutch service sectors, entry and exit do cause low productivity growth. Using individual enterprise data for the period 1987-1995 he shows that starting firms are, for some years, less productive than existing firms and that the productivity of starters is approximately equal to that of exiting firms. However, van der Wiel notices that new firms are responsible for a major part of the increase in turnover and job creation.

On the other hand Bartelsman et al. (1996) show for Dutch manufacturing that in the period 1980-1991 30 percent of labour productivity growth originates from entry and exit.

Reynolds (1996), using American regional data for the period 1980-1992, finds a positive correlation between job creation and various dynamic indicators. Furthermore, he regressed dynamic indicators on growth and concludes that turbulence partly explains economic growth.

Audretsch and Fritsch (1994) use data of regions in West Germany for the period 1986-1989 and find no evidence supporting the link between turbulence and growth.

# 3 Analyzing the impact of turbulence on productivity

#### 3.1 Method and data

In this section we test whether exit and entry of firms influence productivity. We use an EIM-database consisting of a panel of 40 Dutch regions (so called COROP-areas). The regions can be desaggregated into two separate sectors: manufacturing and services. For the regions and sectors information about firm dynamics (number of entries, exits and existing firms) and economic variables is available for the years 1988-1996. Several indicators on firm dynamics can be derived from the number of entries, exits and existing firms. Furthermore, economic variables, nominal value added, deflated value added, capital stock<sup>1</sup>, wages and employment are available. Table 1 presents averages of key variables. Service sectors in regions show more turbulence and growth than manufacturing sectors. However, productivity growth is higher in manufacturing. Growth of turbulence appears to be a common phenomenon in the Netherlands in the period 1988-1996.

	Macro	Services	Manufacturing
Production growth <sup>b</sup> (%)	6.39	7.63	4.51
Productivity growth (TFP <sup>c</sup> , %)	3.00	2.95	3.34
Turbulence <sup>d</sup> (level, %)	11.9	12.1	10.9
Growth of turbulence (percentage points)	0.54	0.54	0.55

 Table 1
 Averages for turbulence and performance across regions and time; 1988-1996<sup>a</sup>

a Unweighted averages.

b Deflated value added.

c Total factor productivity.

d Turbulence = (entries plus exits) / (number of existing firms).

To investigate the impact of firm dynamics on productivity, equations for total factor productivity are estimated. The equations are based on the Cobb-Douglas production function framework. Besides factor inputs the production equation includes turbulence:

<sup>1</sup> Capital stock has been calculated with the so-called Perpetual Inventory Method. In this method historical investments are summarised after correction for depreciation and price mutations. Investments are available for 1977-1995. For more details: see Nieuwenhuijsen (1999) et al.

(1) 
$$\Delta y_{rt} - \alpha_{rt} \Delta l_{rt} - (1 - \alpha_{rt}) \Delta k_{rt} = \beta T U R B_{rt-x}$$

Where:

- $\Delta$ : operator calculating differences (*t*, *t*-1)
- *y*: volume of added value (as logarithm)
- *l*: labour volume (as logarithm)
- *k*: volume of the stock of capital goods (as logarithm)

TURB: turbulence of firms

- *r*, *t*: indices for region and year, respectively (r=1,...,40 en t=1989,...,1996)
- x lag (x= 1,2,3)
- $\alpha$ : average share of labour costs in value added in period *t*, *t*-1
- $\beta$ : impact of turbulence on productivity.

The left-hand side of equation (1) is the growth of the total factor productivity (TFP), which is defined as the growth of production volume corrected for growth of production factors (labour and capital). The TFP is calculated by subtracting a weighted average of the relative growth of the production factors from the relative growth of the production volume. The weightings of the production factors are based on the cost components<sup>1</sup>. Advantage of this method is that weightings depend on region (and sector).

Turbulence is defined as entry plus exit scaled on the number of existing firms. This indicator is selected from a set of various indicators for firm dynamics by means of Principal Component Analysis (PCA)<sup>2</sup>. Turbulence is included with a lag. It is assumed that it takes some time for turbulence to affect total productivity. Including a lag also circumvents the problem of simultaneity, brought up by the influence of production growth on turbulence.

Equation (1) is estimated by regressing TFP on turbulence using ordinary least squares (OLS). In this way it is possible to test whether turbulence contributes to the TFP. In addition, the estimated coefficients provide measures of this effect. The coefficients represent the direct effect of turbulence<sup>3</sup>. Further, including sector dummies and year dummies will shed more light on the relations found.

#### **3.2 Results at macro level**

Table 2 presents the estimated equations using region data without desaggregation into manufacturing and services. It appears that the

<sup>1</sup> See for argumentation e.g. Griliches en Lichtenberg (1984, pp. 486-488).

<sup>2</sup> For detailed information about the PCA: see Nieuwenhuijsen (1999) et al.

<sup>3</sup> Estimating a long-term effect would be difficult because only 9 years are available.

turbulence coefficient is positive in most cases, but not always significant. The share of services in a region (COROP-area) is also found to be of importance. Including the term for the share of services (measured in terms of the value-added value) results, in first instance, in a lower coefficient for turbulence (equations I en II). When regional dummies are also included the coefficient even appears to be negative (equation III). If just the turbulence variable is included, the coefficient apparently also comprises other effects such as share of services or specific COROP effects. It is, therefore, advisable to include these additional variables. The negative sign in equation III is the consequence of the rather poor economic performance in the period 1992-1993. This becomes clear in equation IV. Annual dummies have been added in this equation which results in a positive effect of turbulence. Equation IV appears to be the best variant. In this case turbulence is lagged twice. Alternatives for equation IV, where the turbulence is lagged either once, or three times, do not exhibit improvements<sup>1</sup>. They support, however, the suggestion that turbulence has a positive effect on total factor productivity growth.

Variables	I	П	111	IV	V	VI
Turbulence t-3						0.097
Turbulanca t 2	0 145	0.049	0 107	0 212		(0.153)
Turbulence t-2	(0.079)	(0.048)	(0.139)	(0.132)		
Turbulence t-1	. ,		. ,	. ,	0.065	
			0.005		(0.129)	
Share of services t-1		0.068 (0.021)	0.835 (0.078)	1.045 (0.082)	0.522 (0.082)	1.118 (0.128)
Region dummies Year dummies			$\checkmark$	$\sqrt[]{}$	$\sqrt[n]{\sqrt{1}}$	$\sqrt[]{}$
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup> Number of observations	0.011 211	0.052 211	0.381 211	0.583 211	0.394 243	0.418 180

 Table 2
 Estimation results TFP equation; macro-level

Turbulence = (number of entries and exits) / total number of enterprises. Standard errors between parentheses.

We may tentatively conclude that, at the macro level, turbulence has a positive effect on the TFP. It is striking that a positive coefficient is found for the service share, taking into account the fact that the development of the productivity in the service sector has lagged behind that of industry in recent years (table 1). The fact that the ser-

<sup>1</sup> The specification of the lag length determines the number of observations.

vice share is linked to the turbulence, could provide the explanation. The most important conclusion to be drawn from table 2 is perhaps that a distinction in sectors could help to trace out the impact of turbulence on productivity.

#### 3.3 **Results for services**

Table 3 presents the findings for the service sector. The turbulence coefficient is positive in four of the six equations. In the first equation only turbulence is included as an explanatory variable. In this case the turbulence coefficient is very small and insignificant. Regional dummies are included in the second equation, with as consequence that the turbulence coefficient becomes significantly negative. However, when annual dummies are included the coefficient is positive and significant (equation III). The turbulence coefficient becomes negative again if we additionally include regional dummies. The model without the regional dummies does not appear to be any worse though (in the sense that it is in econometric terms permissible to omit regional dummies). So, the conclusion here is that turbulence is a major cause of the differences in TFP growth between regions. The variants that include turbulence lagged once or three times confirm the findings of equation III. So the main conclusion is that the effects of turbulence are positive and significant.

Variables	Ι	П	Ш	IV	V	VI
Turbulence t-3						0.083
Turbulence t-2	0.007	-0.296	0.087	-0.038		(0.036)
Turbulence t-1	(0.041)	(0.080)	(0.034)	(0.076)	0,037 (0,036)	
Region dummies Year dummies		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\sqrt[n]{\sqrt{1}}$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup> Number of observations	-0.005 211	0.048 211	0.376 211	0.423 211	0.270 243	0.452 180

Table 3 Estimation results TFP equation; services

Turbulence = (number of entries and exits) / total number of enterprises. Standard errors between brackets.

#### 3.4 Results for manufacturing

Table 4 presents the findings for the manufacturing sector. In this table most of the coefficients (5 out of 6) are negative. In addition, in all equations the turbulence coefficient is not significant. In other

words, no effect of turbulence on the TFP is found for manufacturing.

Variables	I	11	111	IV	V	VI
Turbulence t-3						-0.280 (0.156)
Turbulence t-2	-0.067 (0.157)	0.137 (0.369)	-0.119 (0.150)	-0.099 (0.401)		. ,
Turbulence t-1		<b>、</b> ,	· · ·	~ ,	-0.027 (0.127)	
Region dummies Year dummies		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\sqrt[]{}$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup> Number of observations	-0.004 211	-0.065 211	0.139 211	0.103 211	0.147 243	0.185 180

Table 4 Estimation results TFP equation; manufacturing

Turbulence = (number of entries and exits) / total number of enterprises. Standard errors between brackets.

# 4 Evaluation

#### 4.1 Summary of the findings

The purpose of this study was to investigate whether turbulence contributes to the growth of the total factor productivity in regions. The findings indicate some positive effects of turbulence on productivity.

At macro level it was found that turbulence contributes to the growth of the TFP. It should, however, also be stated that the service share (in terms of value added) in a region is an important explanatory factor in the growth of the TFP. Since the service component is linked to the turbulence, the precise effect of turbulence at macro level is not completely clear. Therefore, a further distinction was made into services and manufacturing.

In the service sector it was found that turbulence affects the TFP growth in a region. The coefficients were found to be positive and, on the whole, significant. Furthermore, the turbulence variable is more important than the region dummies. In the service sector, therefore, regional effects are to a major extent effects of turbulence. It was also found that the effect of turbulence does not occur immediately. The estimates indicate that the effect can be measured after one year but that the maximum direct effect is achieved after two years.

No TFP effect of turbulence was found for manufacturing. The turbulence coefficient was not significant in any of the models. Furthermore, the coefficients in most models were negative. Notice, however, that the model provides estimates of the direct effect of turbulence on TFP. The possibility of a long-term effect cannot be ruled out.

#### 4.2 Explanation of the findings

Are the findings plausible? They seem to be.

- The macro findings seem to be in line with the service sector. This can be explained by the considerable services shares in most regions (in only 5 of the 40 regions the share of services is lower than 50%).
- For manufacturing no direct effects were found. This can be explained quite simply. To start a firm in manufacturing, consid-

erable investments are often needed. So it takes time to achieve positive operating results.

 One problem with modelling the consequences of turbulence is the possibility of simultaneity: on the one hand economic growth encourages entry, entry in turn has consequences for exits and, on the other hand, entries and exits affect economic growth. In ideal circumstances this entire process should be modelled. We chose a simple approach in this study which can be refined later. Nevertheless this approach has provided reliable indications that turbulence does affect productivity assuming that the effect of turbulence takes some time. This assumption also circumvents the problem of simultaneity.

#### 4.3 Interpretation of the results

How should we interpret the findings of this study? Let us take services as an example. The turbulence coefficient is 0.087. Average regional turbulence in services is roughly 12% and the annual TFP growth is roughly 3%. A one-percentage point increase of the turbulence in the service sector results in an extra growth in productivity of 0.087 percentage point after two years. The effect of a serious increase of turbulence can, therefore, be considerable.

# Literature

Audretsch, D.B., and M. Fritsch (1994), *Creative Destruction: Turbulence and Economic Growth in Germany*, Paper presented at the biannual meetings of the International Joseph Schumpeter Meetings.

Bartelsman, E.J., G. van Leeuwen and H.R. Nieuwenhuijsen (1995), De industrie: banenschepper of banenvernietiger? (Industry - job creator or destroyer?) in: *Economisch Statistische Berichten*, pp. 504-508.

Griliches, Z., and F. Lichtenberg (1984), in *R&D*, *Patents and Productivity*, edited by Griliches, Z., National Bureau of Economic Research Conference Report, The University of Chicago Press.

Klepper, S. (1992), *Entry, Exit, Growth, and Innovation over the Product Life Cycle.* Presented at the Conference on Market Processes and Corporate Networks, Wissenschaftszentrum für Sozialforschung, Berlin, November 1992.

Nieuwenhuijsen, H.R., J. Bais, N.S. Bosma, J.M.P. de Kok, E.A. van Noort and J.A.C. Vollebregt (1999), *Bedrijvendynamiek en economische prestaties: een analyse van COROP-gebieden in de periode 1988-1996 (Business dynamics and economic performances: an analysis of COROP areas in the period 1988-1996)*, EIM, Zoetermeer.

OECD (1996), Industry Productivity; International Comparison and Measurement Issues, OECD Proceedings, Paris.

Reynolds, P.D. (1996), *Business Volatility: Source or Symptom of Economic Growth?*, Paper presented at the conference on Entrepreneurship, SMEs and the Macro Economy.

Wallis, K.F. (1979), Topics in Applied Econometrics, Basil Blackwell, Oxford.

Wiel, H.P. van der (1999), Productivity in Dutch business services: the role of entry and exit, *CPB report*, 99/2.

Wiel, H.P. van der (1999), *Firm turnover in Dutch Business Services: the effect on labour productivity,* CPB Research Memorandum no. 159, The Hague.

# **List of Research Reports**

The research report series is the successor of both the research paper and the 'research-publicatie' series. There is a consecutive report numbering followed by /x. For /x there are five options:

- /E: a report of the business unit Strategic Research, written in English;
- /N: like /E, but written in Dutch;
- /F: like /E, but written in French;
- A: a report of one of the other business units of EIM/Small Business Research and Consultancy;
- /I: a report of the business unit Strategic Research for internal purposes; external availability on request.
- 9301/E The intertemporal stability of the concentration-margins relationship in Dutch and U.S. manufacturing; Yvonne Prince and Roy Thurik
- 9302/E Persistence of profits and competitiveness in Dutch manufacturing; Aad Kleijweg
- 9303/E Small store presence in Japan; Martin A. Carree, Jeroen C.A. Potjes and A. Roy Thurik
- 9304/I Multi-factorial risk analysis and the sensitivity concept; Erik M. Vermeulen, Jaap Spronk and Nico van der Wijst
- 9305/E Do small firms' price-cost margins follow those of large firms? First empirical results; Yvonne Prince and Roy Thurik
- 9306/A Export success of SMEs: an empirical study; Cinzia Mancini and Yvonne Prince
- 9307/N Het aandeel van het midden- en kleinbedrijf in de Nederlandse industrie; Kees Bakker en Roy Thurik
- 9308/E Multi-factorial risk analysis applied to firm evaluation; Erik M. Vermeulen, Jaap Spronk and Nico van der Wijst
- 9309/E Visualizing interfirm comparison; Erik M. Vermeulen, Jaap Spronk and Nico van der Wijst
- 9310/E Industry dynamics and small firm development in the European printing industry (Case Studies of Britain, The Netherlands and Denmark); Michael Kitson, Yvonne Prince and Mette Mönsted
- 9401/E Employment during the business cycle: evidence from Dutch manufacturing; Marcel H.C. Lever and Wilbert H.M. van der Hoeven
- 9402/N De Nederlandse industrie in internationaal perspectief: arbeidsproduktiviteit, lonen en concurrentiepositie; Aad Kleijweg en Sjaak Vollebregt
- 9403/E A micro-econometric analysis of interrelated factor demand; René Huigen, Aad Kleijweg, George van Leeuwen and Kees Zeelenberg
- 9404/E Between economies of scale and entrepreneurship; Roy Thurik
- 9405/F L'évolution structurelle du commerce de gros français; Luuk Klomp et Eugène Rebers
- 9406/I Basisinkomen: een inventarisatie van argumenten; Bob van Dijk

- 9407/E Interfirm performance evaluation under uncertainty, a multi-dimensional framework; Jaap Spronk and Erik M. Vermeulen
- 9408/N Indicatoren voor de dynamiek van de Nederlandse economie: een sectorale analyse; Garmt Dijksterhuis, Hendrik-Jan Heeres en Aad Kleijweg
- 9409/E Entry and exit in Dutch manufacturing industries; Aad Kleijweg and Marcel Lever
- 9410/I Labour productivity in Europe: differences in firm-size, countries and industries; Garmt Dijksterhuis
- 9411/N Verslag van de derde mondiale workshop Small Business Economics; Tinbergen Instituut, Rotterdam, 26-27 augustus 1994; M.A. Carree en M.H.C. Lever
- 9412/E Internal and external forces in sectoral wage formation: evidence from the Netherlands; Johan J. Graafland and Marcel H.C. Lever
- 9413/A Selectie van leveranciers: een kwestie van produkt, profijt en partnerschap?; F. Pleijster
- 9414/I Grafische weergave van tabellen; Garmt Dijksterhuis
- 9501/N Over de toepassing van de financieringstheorie in het midden- en kleinbedrijf; Erik M. Vermeulen
- 9502/E Insider power, market power, firm size and wages: evidence from Dutch manufacturing industries; Marcel H.C. Lever and Jolanda M. van Werkhooven
- 9503/E Export performance of SMEs; Yvonne M. Prince
- 9504/E Strategic Niches and Profitability: A First Report; David B. Audretsch, Yvonne M. Prince and A. Roy Thurik
- 9505/A Meer over winkelopenstellingstijden; H.J. Gianotten en H.J. Heeres
- 9506/I Interstratos; een onderzoek naar de mogelijkheden van de Interstratos-dataset; Jan de Kok
- 9507/E Union coverage and sectoral wages: evidence from the Netherlands; Marcel H.C. Lever and Wessel A. Marquering
- 9508/N Ontwikkeling van de grootteklassenverdeling in de Nederlandse Industrie; Sjaak Vollebregt
- 9509/E Firm size and employment determination in Dutch manufacturing industries; Marcel H.C. Lever
- 9510/N Entrepreneurship: visies en benaderingen; Bob van Dijk en Roy Thurik
- 9511/A De toegevoegde waarde van de detailhandel; enkele verklarende theorieën tegen de achtergrond van ontwikkelingen in distributiekolom, technologie en externe omgeving; J.T. Nienhuis en H.J. Gianotten
- 9512/N Haalbaarheidsonderzoek MANAGEMENT-model; onderzoek naar de mogelijkheden voor een simulatiemodel van het bedrijfsleven, gebaseerd op gedetailleerde branche- en bedrijfsgegevens; Aad Kleijweg, Sander Wennekers, Ton Kwaak en Nico van der Wijst
- 9513/A Chippen in binnen- en buitenland; De elektronische portemonnee in kaart gebracht; een verkenning van toepassingen, mogelijkheden en consequenties van de chipcard als elektronische portemonnee in binnen- en buitenland; drs. J. Roorda en drs. W.J.P. Vogelesang

- 9601/N Omzetprognoses voor de detailhandel; Pieter Fris, Aad Kleijweg en Jan de Kok
- 9602/N Flexibiliteit in de Nederlandse Industrie; N.J. Reincke
- 9603/E The Decision between Internal and External R&D; David B. Audretsch, Albert J. Menkveld and A. Roy Thurik
- 9604/E Job creation by size class: measurement and empirical investigation; Aad Kleijweg and Henry Nieuwenhuijsen
- 9605/N Het effect van een beursnotering; drs. K.R. Jonkheer
- 9606/N Een Micro-werkgelegenheidsmodel voor de Detailhandel; drs. P. Fris
- 9607/E Demand for and wages of high- and low-skilled labour in the Netherlands; M.H.C. Lever and A.S.R. van der Linden
- 9701/N Arbeidsomstandigheden en bedrijfsgrootte. Een verkenning met de LISRELmethode; drs. L.H.M. Bosch en drs. J.M.P. de Kok
- 9702/E The impact of competition on prices and wages in Dutch manufacturing industries; Marcel H.C. Lever
- 9703/A FAMOS, een financieringsmodel naar grootteklassen; drs. W.H.J. Verhoeven
- 9704/N Banencreatie door MKB en GB; Pieter Fris, Henry Nieuwenhuijsen en Sjaak Vollebregt
- 9705/N Naar een bedrijfstypenmodel van het Nederlandse bedrijfsleven; drs. W.H.M. van der Hoeven, drs. J.M.P. de Kok en drs. A. Kwaak
- 9801/E The Knowledge Society, Entrepreneurship and Unemployment; David B. Audretsch and A. Roy Thurik
- 9802/A Firm Failure and Industrial Dynamics in the Netherlands; David B. Audretsch, Patrick Houweling and A. Roy Thurik
- 9803/E The determinants of employment in Europe, the USA and Japan; André van Stel
- 9804/E PRISMA'98: Policy Research Instrument for Size-aspects in Macro-economic Analysis; Ton Kwaak
- 9805/N Banencreatie bij het Klein-, Midden- en Grootbedrijf; Henry Nieuwenhuijsen, Ben van der Eijken en Ron van Dijk
- 9806/A Milieumodel; drs. K.L. Bangma
- 9807/A Barriers for hiring personnel; Jacques Niehof
- 9808/A Methodiek kosten en baten Arbowetgeving; drs. K.M.P. Brouwers, dr. B.I. van der Burg, drs. A.F.M. Nijsen en ir. H.C. Visee
- 9809/E Business Ownership and Economic Growth; An Empirical Investigation; Martin Carree, André van Stel, Roy Thurik and Sander Wennekers
- 9810/E The Degree of Collusion in Construction; M.H.C. Lever, H.R. Nieuwenhuijsen and A.J. van Stel
- 9811/E Self-employment in 23 OECD countries; Ralph E. Wildeman, Geert Hofstede, Niels G. Noorderhaven, A. Roy Thurik, Wim H.J. Verhoeven and Alexander R.M. Wennekers
- 9812/E SICLASS: Forecasting the European enterprise sector by industry and size class; Niels Bosma and Ton Kwaak
- 9901/E Scanning the Future of Entrepreneurship; drs. N.S. Bosma, drs. A.R.M. Wennekers and drs. W.S. Zwinkels

- 9902/E Are Small Firms Really Sub-optimal?; Compensating Factor Differentials in Small Dutch Manufacturing Firms; David B. Audretsch, George van Leeuwen, Bert Menkveld and Roy Thurik
- 9903/E FAMOS; A size-class based financial analysis model; W.H.J. Verhoeven and E.A. van Noort
- 9904/E Conduct and Performance in Dutch Manufacturing; An Application of Appelbaum 1982 with a Plausibility-Check; Frank A. Hindriks, Henry R. Nieuwenhuijsen and Adriaan J. van Stel
- 9905/E Non-competitive Rents in Dutch Manufacturing; Conduct and Performance in the New Empirical Industrial Organization; Frank A. Hindriks
- 9906/E A human-resource-based theory of the small firm; Charlotte Koch and Jan de Kok
- 9907/N Van werknemer naar ondernemer; Een hybride of directe start?; ir. H.C. Visee en drs. W.S. Zwinkels
- 9908/E Modelling returns to R&D: an application on size effects; Peter Brouwer and Henry Nieuwenhuijsen